### ST. JOHN'S CHURCH HISTORY (1854-1995)

# A History of Saint John's Church

1. Beginnings: Ah, but man's reach should exceed his grasp, or what's a heaven for? – Robert Browning

On Monday, the fourth day of December, 1854, at 71/2 o'clock nine citizens of the town of sandwich gathered for the first time as a religious society to be known as Saint John's Episcopal Church. By virtue of authority vested in Charles B. Hall, Justice of the Peace, the meeting was called to choose a clerk and a moderator, to record proceedings, and "to enact by –laws and do such other business as may be needful to promote the objects of said Church." John w. Jarves, having been chosen as clerk, recorded the 60 minutes of that auspicious meeting. The Reverend Thomas Brinton Flowers was chosen as moderator. It was then resolved:

That we here assembled do form ourselves into a Parish or church (called St. John's) of the Protestant Episcopal Church, and do agree to conform to the general rules and regulations of the Diocese of the State of Mass., and also to the canons of the Church. Resolved that we hire Montezuma Hall and fit it for a place of worship until we are able to build or buy a more suitable place. The following persons were chosen as a vestry. John w. Jarves, Geo. W. S. Hatch, Wm. McCarthy, Marshall C. Homblin and Charles P. Baker.

The vestry chose for Wardens John W. Jarves for Treasurer. Rev. Thos. B. Flowers, Rector of the Church of the Messiah at Woods Hole generously offered to give us his services by preaching for us the first Sunday evening in every month until, by the blessings of God, we can have a resident pastor.

(With Mr. Jarves' corrections)

The meeting was adjourned at '8 ½ o'clock and the minutes signed "John W. Jarves, Clerk" In the original document we can disregard his several spelling corrections while we admire his graceful script and his acceptance, at the ripening age of 19, of so many duties. Mr. Jarves, son of the founder of the Boston and Sandwich Glass Company, was a natural leader for Saint John's inception.

Of the others who helped form the Society, Marshall Childs Homblin, William McCarthy and Joseph Harrison were glasscutters, and James Creech was a glassblower. Otis Freeman, who eventually fathered ten children, was an engineer. George W. S. Hotch owned a planning mill and was a house wright. James P. McKenna was a laborer from Ireland, and of Charles P. Baker, though her was held in high enough esteem to be elected to the vestry, we know nothing.

All but three of the founders' ages are known and they range from 19 to 39. Perhaps it was a new generation trying its spiritual wings, but the Society of 1854 was not the first Episcopal gathering in Sandwich. Otis Freeman's father, the Reverend Frederick Freeman, an Episcopal minister who conducted services in his own chapel prior to 1850, said in his history, "An unadvised attempt was made..., to organize a society for the purpose of sustaining services of the Protestant Episcopal Church; but such as might naturally from their position have been supposed the strongest friends of Episcopacy were neither advising nor consulted in regard to the movement." Unadvised as it may have seemed to some, the Society commenced with the able ministry of the Reverend Mr. Flowers at Montezuma Hall. This hall, at

10 Jarves Street, was originally built as a Puritan Church, and was variously known as Jarves Chapel, Father Clinton Hall, and is now the Madden Country Store.

The resolute group, though small, managed to keep up its fellowship by attracting new members as others left (McCarthy became a Methodist), died or moved away. And there was always a seasonal increase in attendance as faithful summer residents returned to the Cape. However, the Society continued to meet in public halls and private homes for the next forty-five years.

In the 1850s Sandwich was on a railroad line to Boston. The glass factory and related works provided regular incomes, and small businesses along resumed."

### 2. Construction

Surely your goodness and mercy shall follow me all the days of my life, and I will dwell in the house of the Lord forever. Psalm 23

The organization was maintained and a committee was formed to ascertain what funds were available and what church could be constructed. In 1896 a lot was purchased from James Crocker on Old Main Street. It was considered a prime location and measured 60 by 123 feet. Pledges were sought and many ways of raising money were undertaken, especially by the Women's Guild. Three of the most unique ways of raising money seem worthy of recounting, Mayflowers were plentiful in those days and these lovely fragrant flowers were picked by young and old members of the congregation to be sold through a Boston Florist. The second way had to do with the Lake House, an early boarding house which stood near the Hoxie House, and was popular with Episcopalians who summered here. A plan was devised whereby any guest at the Lake House who soiled the table cloth would have to cover the spot with a coin. The money collected was turned over to the building fund of Saint John's. And last, but not least, was the making of little boys trousers for 30 cents a pair. There was considerable interest when it was learned that the noted actor, Joseph Jefferson, who summered here, had pledged \$25.00 to the fund. This was regarded as a most generous gift. Another supporter of the congregation's efforts was the former President's wife, Frances F. Pratt, Junior Warden, by sending \$5.00 for "the little church". She apologized that the sum was "more to show my good wish than as any substantial aid."

We who live in the twentieth century sometimes fail to realize how much one dollar meant in what are now indulgently called "the good old days." Nor do we remember how much work went into earning one dollar. Records dealing with the building of the church reveal that a workman received four dollars for cleaning 2,000 bricks; that a man received \$1.50 for a full working day grading the church property; that the bill for sixty-eight and three-quarter hours work on the church was \$11.51.

Finally, with pledges of \$1, 219.75 in hand, the vestry felt it could meet the estimate of \$1,600.00 submitted by the carpenter. Mr. Robert H. Slack of New Bedford, who was experienced in building small churches, was engaged as the architect. The church would stand on posts with a partially excavated cellar, a nave to seat 100 persons, a tiny sacristy, and a bell tower. Expenses had to be kept under tight control. The Bishop of Massachusetts, William Lawrence, evidently feel that local people could contribute more. He wrote that \$300.00 would be forthcoming from a small fund but that "the church building fund moneys ought to go to poor parishes."

Minor problems arose between architect, builder, and the Parish for who the building was being constructed. Mr. Slack thought the builder was making changes without consulting him. And the Vicar, the Reverend M. Bullock, had a slight misunderstanding with the architect about the kind of cross the church should have on its tower. The Vicar thought it was to be of wood, whereas the Architect had

envisioned a hammered metal one. Happily, the various difference were resolved. A news story in The Boston Globe, dated March 13, 1899, reported that, "Work on the church for Saint John's Parish has begun...the church will stand on the lot fronting on Main Street just back of the Post Office. A memorial altar will be erected in the church and F. Edwin Elwell, the well-known artist, will present the parish with a stone font. The church will be a handsome edifice, a pride to the parish and an ornament to the town." Another memorial gift to the church was a pulpit, which was given in memory of Dr. Abel F. Price, who was surgeon to Admiral Dewey at the Battle of Manila. It was Mr. Slack, in response to the Wardens; inquiry about painting the interior of the church, who suggested leaving most of the woodwork natural but painting the ceiling a robin's egg blue as it would be attractive and soothing! And so it remains.

The wait of nearly half a century had ended! The faithful group which had moved from hall to hall and had met in private homes was to have a church of its own. The Reverend John J. Roberts, who gave the large stained glass windows on the south wall in memory of his granddaughter, officiated at the first regular service in the church on June 11, 1899. On June 24<sup>th</sup> (Saint John the Baptist Day), the new church was consecrated with the Right Reverend William Lawrence officiating, and Archdeacon Samuel G. Babcock, the Reverend John J. Roberts, the Reverend Samuel B. Foxcraft, and the Reverend Ernest N. Bullock sharing in the joyful and momentous occasion. The ceremony was attended by 140 persons, 51 of who were communicants, and \$17.05 was collected at the offering. The Reverend Mr. Bullock was then priest-in-charge; John F. Carleton was Senior Warden, and Ambrose Pratt as Junior Warden. W. H. Fish, Clerk of the Vestry wrote that the Episcopal congregation of Sandwich had been waiting "as long for a satisfactory place to worship as did the infirm man wait at the pool of Bethesda!"

To paraphrase a portion of a prayer from the Service of Consecration found in the Book of Common Prayer, the congregation of Saint John's appropriated and devoted this building to the honor of God, and all who benefit from it show their thankfulness by making a right use of it, to the glory of Christ's blessed Name.

### 3. The next Sixty Year

Oh, how good and pleasant it is when brethren lives together in unity. Psalm 133

Clergy of several other congregations assisted the Reverend Ernest Bullock in the duties of Vicar. Among these was Frances Foxcraft, grandfather of Augusta Carleton Jillson and great grandfather of our current Senior Warden, Jack Jillson. Also assisting were the Reverends Roberts and Dr. Joseph Cullen Ayres, Jr. In 1904 the Reverend Mr. Hawkes become Minister – in – charge. The Reverend Mr. Hawkes was also the minister of the Church of the Good Shepherd in Wareham. Saint John's continued to share ministers with other congregations until 1959.

The Reverend Mr. Hawkes died in office in 1913, and the Reverend Mr. Love came to finish out the year. Augusta Jillson remembers that the Reverend Mr. Love made a very favorable impression on her sister Amy. Then in 1914 the Reverend Arthur Fenderson came and served the churches in both Wareham and Sandwich for fifteen years. That same year Sandwich celebrated its 75<sup>th</sup> anniversary and Assistant Secretary of the Navy, Franklin Delano Roosevelt was on the destroyer McDougall, which was part of the naval procession that opened the Cape Cod Canal.

During Mr. Fenderson's tenure the issue of women serving on the Vestry was raised. In 1916 Everard Pratt (son of Ambrose) corresponded with the Diocese on this matter. Bishop Samuel Babcock reminded him that an amendment to Saint John's Constitution would be required since that document referred only to "vestrymen". Such a navel development, he said, would also require the approval of the New Bedford Archdeaconry. However, at a special meeting called to amend Article 3 so as to include

women on the vestry, the motion lost. In spite of that, Mrs. Bertrand French (Hazel) was appointed Clerk Pro tem for her husband who was elected Clerk while he was away fighting in World War I from August 19 to March 1919.

In 1919 Mr. Fenderson oversaw the installation of our present organ, which was given by Louis A. Warren in memory of his wife, Harriet W. The first to play the new organ were Mrs. Doowden and Mrs. Crane who shared the duties of organist for several years. Lucy French Morrison (daughter of Bertrand and Hazel French) and Eleanor Harrison played the organ for services in the late 1920s and early 1930s. Stowell Pratt (son of Everard Pratt) occasionally played and incorporated very intricate pieces for the prelude and postlude. Other organists, such as Carolyn Greeley, Ann Atwood, Claire Morse, and Janet Dunbar filled in from time to time. Ruth Heuss was organist from 1957 to 1975. Elizabeth Stommel, who was to become a chaplain, played from 1975 to 1980. In 1975 the organ was tonally revised and enlarged to include a total of 640 pipes.

In 1925 St. John's expenditures totaled only \$900.00 for the year, and that included our share of the clergy's compensation. In 1928 the Henry T. Wing School was built and Jack Jillson entered first grade there.

From 1930 to 1944 the Reverend Sumner J. Brown, Rector of Saint Mary's in Barnstable, was also the Priest – in – charge of Saint John's. Among the various clergy, Augusta especially liked Mr. Brown. Jack Jillson recalls that Mr. Brown was very good with children – most of the time. His day to visit Saint John's parishioners was Wednesday, but he would always find time to organize outings and play games, especially tennis, with Saint John's youth. On one excursion Mr. Brown had tried, unsuccessfully, to get the older boys to allow young Jack to tag along, So Mr. Brown gave Jack a brush and Black paint to freshen the hinges of the church's front door. Even at a tender age Jack exhibited a will and mind of his own. Painting hinges was not a fair exchange for being cut from the outing! As soon as the group drove off, Jack put down his brush and headed for home!

Lucy French Morrison recalls that there were often parties where the youths of Saint Mary's and Saint John's intermingled. Some romances blossomed, as did that of her brother Bertrand, Jr. and his future wife. The festivities included Halloween parties, where Mr. Brown would tell the most hair-raising stories and scare everyone! At Christmas the children would go caroling, return to the Parish Hall for refreshments, and then go to the midnight service with their families. Marjorie Lane remembers one caroling party when Augusta worried that the cider had turned and would get the children drunk!

In 1930 the estimated population of Sandwich was 1,437, slightly less than in 1900. The year 1933 saw the beginning of the Craft Build, which functioned until 1941. The Guild taught crafts to young people who then sold their products to benefit the church. Hazel French taught jewelry making with scraps from the glass factory. Other crafts taught were woodworking, bookbinding, needlework, and basket weaving. The church amended Article 3 and in 1937 Mrs. William Harrison (Edith) became the first woman elected to the Vestry. She held the office of Clerk for the next four years.

In 1938 Camp Edwards was dedicated as a Massachusetts National Guard Camp. As a part of the ceremony on that occasion the entire World War I. Yankee Division of Major General Clarence R. Edwards formed a twelve-mile-long parade. In 1939 Sandwich held a three-day celebration of its tercentennial. The Federal Government took control of Camp Edwards in 1940 to build Otis Air Force Base. In 1941 the Parish Hall was made into a canteen for the servicemen at the base.

In that same year the Altar Guild was organized. Lucy Morrison said her Grandmother, Ida May French, was in charge of the linens and hangings for many years prior to the institution of the Guild. "I

can remember she was a little pint of peanuts, hardly five feet tall, and would get up on a ladder and climb on the altar to care for the hangings." Jeanne Hebert, the current Directress of the Altar Guild, describes the work of the Guild as "preparing and making ready the Lord's Table each week." One learns as one attends to each and every detail. There is no rigorous training, just a love of flowers, fine lines, quiet solitude and reverence. There is the excitement of being a part of your church in a different and fulfilling way." Shirley Cross is one whose love of flowers and whose reverence has brought visual beauty to Saint John's. Every Sunday she decorates the font with a large display of seasonal flowers from her garden, and, since 1959, at Easter she masses huge boughs of forsythia in the Chancel that remind us of nature's resurrection as well as that of Jesus.

The Reverend J. Samuel Stephenson was the minister at Saint Peter's-on-the-Canal in Buzzard's Bay and the Vicar of Saint John's from 1945 to 1951. The Reverend Ernest H. McDonald replaced him at both churches in 1952. He served at Saint John's Centennial service in 1954 with Bishop Henry S. Nash officiating Mr. McDonald found a "challenging opportunity" both in Bourne and in Sandwich. At Saint John's he noted the lack of adequate space for church activities and for the clergy at a time when the congregation was growing "including the families of well-established farmers." He saw that "it was a worthwhile task to pour into the mold of the impressionable years of the youth reared (in rural areas) something of the life and teaching of the Lord." The 1953 budget of \$2,710.00, including \$1,500.00 for clergy compensation, left little room for needed church expansion. Mr. McDonald left his positon due to ill health but remained in the area and filled in as guest minister on occasion.

For a short time, expansion was accomplished by the women of St. John's. St. Elizabeth's Guild was organized in January, 1953 to accommodate those young women who, because of work or children, could not attend day-time meetings of the Women's Guild. Their first year they worked on quilt pieces which they sent to the Indian Mission in South Dakota and on items for the summer fair. They had a slide presentation on Scandinavia as well as a talk by a member of the Diocesan Board of Missions. The group had advisors from the Women's Guild Pala, President of St. Elizabeth's is limited in what it can do, but the spirit is willing, and with guidance, we hope to do our part as well as possible." However, then as now, young women with the demands of work, family, and home found it difficult to create time for regular meetings and the group lapsed in a few years.

The Reverend Mr. Littlewood and his wife came from England and served here for two years from 1957 to 1959. Carol Jillson (wife of Jack Jillson), remembered them as diplomats to whom everyone warmed, and that they were good for the church. After many years of service, in 1957 Bertram C. French was elected "Senior Warden Emeritus." He was first elected to the Vestry as Clerk in 1911, then as Junior Warden from 1925 to 1935, and as Senior Warden from 1935 to 1957, a total of 4 6 years serving St. John's in leadership positions!

### 4. Rapid Growth

Hosanna, Lord, hosanna!

Lord; send us now success Psalm 118

Because the congregation and the population of Sandwich were growing at this time (2,082 in 1960), the Vestry felt it was time to call a minister who would live in Sandwich and be more available to the members of the Congregation than past ministers had been. At the same time the Reverend William Workman of Saint Barnobas Memorial Church in Falmouth was experiencing growth in his own congregation, thus limiting his time to serve the military families at Otis Air Force Base. He suggested that area churches might contribute to support a minister at the Base. Saint Peter's in Osterville and Saint

Mary's in Barnstable each contributed \$600.00. Saint Barnabas contributed over \$600.00 and the Diocese granted \$1,000.00. Under Diocesan leadership, and with the understanding that the new minister would serve as civilian chaplain to the Episcopal families at Otis, who might attend Saint John's the Vestry voted unanimously on February 10<sup>th</sup> to call John H. Thomas to be Vicar of Saint John's. Carol Jillson saw this call as "the beginning of continuity within the established fabric of the church, "rather than a change. In preparation for a new minister who would live in Sandwich, Saint John's purchased the Edith C. Deering property at 178 Main Street as the rectory. The Diocese contributed \$3,000.00 and a loan of \$12,500.00 was secured. Mr. Thomas chaired his first Vestry meeting on June 19<sup>th</sup>. Everard S. Pratt (son of Ambrose), was Senior Warden and John F. Carleton (Augusta's brother), was Junior Warden. William A Heuss was Treasurer and Chester Nickerson was Clerk.

At this time Mr. Thomas was 31 years old. With a degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Maine in 1950, he had not intended to be a minister, He was a Baptist, Congregationalist, and Methodist, but had come to the Episcopal Church through the influence of many friends and especially his wife, from, who he had met while she was studying nursing at Colby College. While they lived and worked in the Boston area as a young married couple, they attended Saint Andrew's I Belmont, where John sang in the choir and served on the Vestry. There was a general call for new ministers then, as Episcopal churches were growing in number. After a weekend visit to the Episcopal Theological School and with the influence of a variety of people, especially his rector, Robert Derr, John decided to enter the seminary.

When the Thomases arrived in Sandwich, one of John's first tasks was to oversee completion of the work begun on the renovation of the Parish Hall. As suggested by the Reverend Mr. McDonald, the church's growth required more space for offices and Sunday school. The Vestry had previously decided to enlarge the Parish Hall by digging under it, creating a basement, and by extending the Hall behind the church to create a new kitchen. The work was contracted with Louie Masachi for \$9,500.00. He dug out a ramp to dive a bulldozer down to excavate underneath. Supports were placed but, Jack Jillson recalls, "the building shivered and shook, and sagged in the middle," and everyone was a little frightened for the Hall. However, Mr. Masachi completed the excavation without incident. It attracted a number of townspeople during the three days of work.

On January 17, 1960, John Thomas was ordained to the Priesthood at Saint John's wit Bishop Frederick Lawrence officiating, and with the Reverend Dr. Charles W. F. Smith as preacher, both of whom were mentors of the new Vicar. Mr. Thomas fondly remembers a jam-packed church and the thrill of now being able to officiate at the Holy Eucharist.

In 1961 Florence "Gram" Stoots inherited \$1,000.00. She donated it to Saint John's to enlarge the Chancel, particularly to sear the choir, which had been seated in the first few pews. She had long been on energetic and welcoming force at Saint John's. She started a weekly mailing called Home Prayers, including the weekly bulletin and prayerful notes to those unable to attend church. She was the first to coordinate the Bloodmobile in Sandwich, which was held at Saint John's for a number of years. She made dinners for the nurses in the Hall kitchen. Florence conducted the "little church" with Harriet Clark for preschoolers and young children using Mae Foster's little altar. Florence was the first parish secretary, a volunteer, from 1965 to 1975, when she retired at the age of 80. When anyone needed help, the answer was usually, "Go ask Gram!" When new people came to the church they were apt to be greeted with a warm and memorable welcome by "Gram."

In the early 1960's, with the congregation still growing, it was decided to build a chapel with a basement and to enlarge the Sacristy at a cost of \$24,000.00. The architect was Howard H. Barton. While

digging the foundation for the Chapel, some original foundation stones for the church on Tupper Road were found. They are now located on either side of the lower front entrance. Having made this great financial commitment, the Vestry was tempted by the availability of the Mary Baker property (161 Main Street), and so purchased it for \$12,000.00. The courage to add to the debt burden came with Mrs. Gertrude Hill's donation of \$2,000.00 for the down payment. This house would help with future needs for more space for Sunday school and offices, and in the meantime, would provide income through rental of its two apartments. Around this time the Vestry bought the land to the left of the church from the Giovani family for a parking lot.

# 5. Community Service

Be strong and let your heart take courage, all you who wait for the Lord. Psalm 31.

Saint John's became a center for community service. The new spaces allowed greater use by groups such as Scouts, Alcoholics Anonymous, youth groups, nursing agencies, the Red Cross and Bloodmobile, and the Cape Cod Extension. One gesture considered by Fr. John as among our more important was the welcoming of Alcoholics Anonymous programs, Fr. John had invited David Works, a recovering alcoholic priest, to preach at St. John's. Rev. Works called for the Church to improve its ministry to alcoholics and their families. From this, and with others who were interested in the success of the program on the Cape, Fr, John was involved in the start of the Cape Cod Committee on Alcoholism in 1964.

Another area that was considered by Fr. John to be "the Church at Work" was in counseling. He was part of a pastoral counseling group and ministry of the Cape Cod Council of Churches. Each clergy member was asked to take four cases. Gradually social workers and other groups took over these kinds of counseling responsibilities.

Father John was also involved with public housing. In the 1980's he was appointed to fill out an unexpired term and then later elected to the Sandwich Housing Authority. SHOP (Sandwich Homeowner's Opportunity Program), was a town committee formed with several members of Saint John's on the board; Father John, Stan and Dorothy Torrey, and Bill Hansen. Meetings of these groups were held at Saint John's. Also active at town meetings, Father John has supported such issues as recreation, human services and affordable housing.

Father John is a charter member of the Sandwich Clergy Group (begun with the encouragement of Father Ted Yardley), which still holds weekly luncheon meetings on a rotating basis among the various churches. This group develops a sense of community responsibility among the clergy. Included are local spiritual nourishment and intellectual stimulation by exploring scripture readings which are common to several church lectionaries, they also support the Food Pantry and conduct a joint Good Friday service.

On July 4<sup>th</sup>, 1989, the March of Racial Harmony took place as a response to racial harassment of a Wampanoag family in Sandwich. A parishioner organized the march and obtained support from the religious community through the Clergy group. Father John also helped to plan and officiate in the service at Saint John's which followed the march.

In the early 1960's Saint John's became the sponsor of Boy Scout Troop 47, which had previously been sponsored by the Fire Department Among other field trips, Father John hiked with this group in the mountains of New Hampshire. He was also involved with scouting in the "High Adventure" program where the participants learned to help and take responsibility for each other. Girl scouts and Brownies have also met at Saint John's.

Father John also helped to sponsor a Coffee House in the old railroad station in the late 1960s, where the Community Youth Program met. Here there were music and discussion – an outlet for the frustrations and angst of the era. Father John also grew an unpopular beard and was criticized for his antiwar position. At the same time the Episcopal Church, as a whole, was in conflict over such issues as the changing of the liturgy and the role of women in the church. However, Saint John's, often praised as having the warmth and acceptance of family, behaved as a real family in that it did not always agree, but it did always stay together.

### 6. The First Rector

I will declare your name to my brethren; in the midst of the congregation I will praise you.

Psalm 22

By 1968, with average attendance at 100, and yearly budget of around \$10,000.00, Saint John's decided I could be self-sufficient and support its own minister. In 1969 the church became the "Sandwich Village Episcopal Church, Inc." and Father John became its first full-time Rector.

In 1975, the year that Sandwich High School was completed, Father John received the Henry S. Nash Fellowship of \$2,500.00 to continue his education. This fellowship is given to a minister with 15 or more years of ministry. With the generous support of the congregation, Father John was able to attend the Virginia Theological Seminary for refresher courses that he turned into a Doctor of Ministry degree over the next eleven years. While on sabbatical, Father John recalls that he began to wrestle with new theological issues through dialogues with, and the contemporary writings of, his colleagues. It was a growing as well as a learning time for him. It was also a growth opportunity for the congregation. During his periodic absences for course work, a favorite Sunday replacement was the Reverend William C. Wrenn, who was considered very inspirational by most of the congregation.

At this time women, too, assumed an increasingly significant portion of the leadership. In 1976, Gail Alcorn became the first woman to be elected Senior Warden. Neil Harper was on the Vestry and in charge of the Thrift Shop. Louise Velsor had served over a decade as Treasurer.

In 1976 St. John's participated in Sandwich's celebration of the nation's Bicentennial. The church placed in the town's Time Capsule, which will be opened in 2076, newspaper articles that focused on St. John's life over the years, and a statement of purpose that proclaimed "ministry and worship is intended to be a joint effort of people and minister to care for one another within the parish community and to seek to widen that community; to minister to wider community through Christian outreach and fellowship." This purpose has been a driving force throughout the life of St. John's especially under Fr. John's ministry.

In the 1970s and early 1980s Father John served as supervisor for several seminarians whose field work in Sandwich allowed them to get acquainted with the tasks of a minister. Coming from the Boston Theological Institute in Cambridge, they also gained experience in a small town church. Edward "Beau" Chapman, Mike Morgan, Warren Soule, and Richard Smith became "members" of the Thomas family, which had increased with the birth of Jane in 1960 and Andrew in 1962. The seminarians were housed at 161 Main Street, but often fed at the rectory which the Thomases bought from the church in 1972. The student did youth work, visitation and counselling, as well as assisting at Sunday services. These young men were the forerunners of team ministry that has benefitted Saint John's since the arrival of Allen Swain.

Father John embraced the concept of shared leadership when the Reverend Mr. Swain began attending Saint John's in 1980. Mr. Swain came to the Cape as Priest – in – charge of the Briarwood Conference and Retreat Center in Bourne, and Camp Dennen, a family camp grounds in Cedarville. This combination was a half-time position. He recalls that Father John and Saint John's became an anchor for him, and he is grateful that his need was fulfilled for an altar from which he could celebrate the Eucharist. His volunteer services grew into a part-time position at Saint John's. Not only did he assist at Sunday services, he made hospital calls and officiated at funerals. He also led Vestry retreats once a year for new Vestry members. This was an evaluation process to learn what work had been done and what issues were facing them – a pulse-taking time for the whole Vestry and an opportunity for members to connect with one another.

The Reverend Mr. Swain also remembers how hard the women of the Thrift Shop worked to decorate and furnish Briarwood, and the help given by parishioners who painted the building. They made it possible for what had been a summer program, to become a year-round center. He doesn't feel he would have been able to do it without Saint John's help. In return he brought a fresh perspective to Saint John's that inspired growth. He began the annual luncheon at Briarwood for the Episcopal Church Women, many of whom believed that this event rejuvenated the group.

The Reverend Theodore Yardley and his wife Barbara moved to the Cape in 1982. He had been chaplain and head of the religion department at Saint Paul's School in Concord, New Hampshire. They began attending Saint John's on a regular basis and found the congregation to be a warmly welcoming one. In 1984, when Mr. Swain's position at Briarwood became full-time and the drive on Sundays more difficult, Father Ted became part-time assistant to Father John. When Father John retired, Father Ted continued to serve the Parish on a part-time basis. He preached thought-provoking sermons with humor and insight, officiated at funerals and baptisms, and made home communion visits, first with Virginia Lucas, and then with Bettie Soule.

Father Ted brought his own perspective and wealth of experience. He introduced, as a Sunday service, the Stations of the Cross, for those who could not share the experience on Good Friday. He was officiated at mid-week Eucharist that included Thrift Shop workers, and then stayed to share food and fellowship with them. He also contributes his voice to the choir. Once he was asked to do a solo for a Christmas pageant. It terrified him, and he notes, with humor, that he has never been asked to do a solo again!

The Reverend Roderick H. Pierce, former Seminary Professor and retired Rector of Saint Andrew's Church in Elyria, Ohio, moved to the Cape in July, 1988. He and his wife Margi, with sons Eric and Evan, had summered here since 1957, and worshipped at Saint John's whenever they were on the Cape. From time to time Father John asked Rod to officiate and preach. Father Rod recalls a gracious and kin Augusta Jillson who remembered them from summer to summer, and made them feel right at home at Saint John's. When the Pierces became year-round members of the congregation, Margi and Rod participated more fully in the life of the Parish. Beginning with Father John's retirement in July, 1993, Father Rod began to take some of the services on a regular basis. Margi was Parish Secretary in 1989-1990, and again from 1994 to 1995. She was Vestry Clerk in 1991-1992, President of the Episcopal Church Women, head of its Hospitality Committee and Vice President for Ways and Means. Margi also chaired Christmas and summer fairs, and started the greeting card rack which brings in about \$300.00 per year for ECW outreach. Together Margi and Rod started a prayer and Bible study group which has been meeting monthly since 1991. Margi is also a lector, and occasional choir member, and a helper at the Thrift Shop.

When Father John proposed moving the Altar forward in 1992, so that the priest could celebrate the Eucharist in a closer association with the people, Father Rod conducted small groups to help the congregation understand the significance and larger context of this change. He also headed the maintenance crew which accomplished the task. The floor of the Chancel had to be extended, the communion rail moved, and the floor carpeted. It was an extensive project completed quickly so as not to interrupt Sunday worship and to minimize the distress felt by some parishioners. Once the Altar was in place, people realized that the stairs had been eliminated and that the Alta was more visible throughout the church. Almost everyone thought it was a significant improvement.

In 1984, one week before Christmas, Fran Thomas had a car accident that left her with broken legs and shoulder. She was hospitalized for two months and confined at home nearly two additional months. She remembers with gratitude the "incredible outpouring of care and concern". Members of the congregation immediately took on the task of providing dinners five days a week, and Dot Kreutel kept their house clean. This was a period when both the Thomases and the congregation learned important lessons about themselves and the strengths of which each was capable. Fran, who never considered herself a "professional" minister's wife, had her own career in nursing. She started part-time at Tobey hospital and rose to the position of supervisor. Fran did her own personal outreach by keeping tabs on patients who came from Saint John's. She also worked tirelessly on the greens sale at Christmas and Sunday school and nursery, on bake sales, and many other fund-raising activities over the years. Most important, Fran has been a major source of support and inspiration for Father John, and all the while raising five children!

### 7. Music Drama

Sing to the Lord a new song; Sing his praises in the congregation of the faithful.

Psalm 149

The creative and imaginative side of Father John found outlets in the choir and the Glass town Players. Saint John's choir vested in the belfry (which never had a bell), prior to the addition of the Chapel. When Father John came to Saint John's he acted as the director of the choir. In the early 1980s Bruce Graham, director of the high school chorale, Geraldine Boles had come to share the job with Joan McNaughton, who wanted to get back to her own church. A musical relationship was born between Geraldine, Bruce and Father John that produced the Cape Cod Chorale, of which the Saint John's choir was the nucleus. In 1984 the Chorale had the opportunity to tour Germany and Austria, and since Father John was a member, singing tenor, he wanted to go. The congregation generously gave the trip to Father John and Fran as a gift in recognition of his 25 years of ministry to the Parish. It is an experience they still remember with great fondness.

Since 1981 Geraldine has served as organist and more recently as "Musical Director". She organized not only the choir but also various performances by soloists, instrumental musicians and members of the Cape Cod Chorale. Since their high school years the Thomas sons have played in a brass ensemble for special occasions, particularly Christmas, Easter, and Saint John's Day. David Thomas recalls that that his youth at Saint John's was a mixture of church, family and music that are hard for him to separate. Carrying on the musical tradition, David's son James, at the age of 10 in 1990, played a solo on the organ and then was to accompany his father and uncles. James did such a fine job, that when he began the piece which was to be with the brass ensemble, the adults forgot to play their instruments. All had to begin again. These musical interludes were most enjoyable for Father John.

Geraldine agreed to stay as the permanent organist because "the people were so welcoming and warm, and because of Father John." And Geraldine proved to be a "blessing" for St. John's. Not only could she organize and direct the music, but she could maintain the organ in a pinch. She recalls one 8:00am service when a particular note played sourly. It was an important, often used note, so between the services she pulled out the offending pipe and saw a complex and thick web inside. When she dribbled water through it, it only came out very slowly. After she finally broke up the web, hard white-shelled egg cases came rattling out along with a very angry spider!

Geraldine, who was born in Ireland, says Handel's Hallelujah Chorus is her favorite piece and she traditionally plays it at all three Christmas Eve services as a postlude. She heard the Chorus for the first time at the age of ten when her oldest brother took her to a Cathedral in Dublin for the Christmas Day Mass. She thought that is was the most beautiful music she had ever heard, and she made up her mind that one day she too would play Handel's music.

Geraldine retired as organist and music director in June, 1995. Her style and grace will be missed. Geraldine has given us an appreciation of the many ways music enhances our participation in the Liturgy.

A member of the congregation who also shares her talents with Saint Jon's is Eva "pip" Roberson, who comes from England. She was in the Royal Air Force during World War Two. During her service she was in a theater group that put on performances at hospitals and other places after her working hours. She and Father John were charter members of Glass town players, which evolved from the Town's Recreation Committee putting on plays every summer. The young people wanted to start a year-round theater group in 1975. From this came the "Evening of Entertainment." Father John was interested in producing plays at the church and even using drama as part of the Sunday service. Traditionally at Christmas the "Beggars of Bordeaux" was put on at the church.

### 8. Food Pantry

Happy are they who consider the poor and needy! The Lord will deliver them in the time Of trouble. Psalm 41.

In 1984 Father John, always aware of the needs of both the community and the congregation, was a principal in calling together a general meeting of the leaders from Corpus Christi, Covenant Baptist, First Church and the Quakers. From this meeting the Food Pantry emerged, which today provides groceries for about 120 families each month. However, both those in need and those who could donate to fill those needs were slow to come forward. At first, the Pantry, located in the American Legion Hall, tried to cover Sandwich, Bourne, Mashpee, and Sagamore. But after a two-year campaign, Bourne and Mashpee started their own pantries.

By 1988 Joe Chaisson, chairman of the committee, recalled that occasionally, "the shelves were bare and the treasury was empty." A letter to the editor of the <u>Broadsider</u> and reminders in the church bulletins brought a quick response. Each parish now collects food donation in its own manner and brings them to the Pantry on Wednesdays. Since there is a menu of certain staple products worth about \$60.00 for a family of four, the Pantry depends on monetary donations too. Families who do need food and reside in the Sandwich and Sagamore (to the bridge) area, can com once a month for staples and also pick from a table of donated food items.

In 1993, 230 families were helped. Some only need assistance once or twice but about 70 families have long-term need. Most of young, single mothers. Joe felt the Pantry was not getting the number of

elderly it should, because of pride. But once they come and see that they are treated with warmth and respect, they do come again.

# 9. Episcopal Church Women

Almighty God...give us the grace to know your will the courage to accept it and the Strength to accomplish it. – from the "Prayer for the Women of the Episcopal Church"

The Women's Guild was officially organized August 5, 1897 "to promote the interest of the Church and thereby advancing the cause of piety and good works." "We do hereby form a society," they wrote "pledging ourselves to work and pray for the prosperity of our Parish and Church." And the women did work! They raised over \$800.00 to build the Parish Hall in 1906. They did this through a fair, a dinner-dance at the Casino each summer, bake sales and rummage sales. The Guild was responsible for all the fund raising activities of Saint John's until the 1970s. These included craft fairs, United Thank Offering, Church World Service, the Thrift Chop and greens sales. Those greens sales were a major effort for the church at Christmas, selling as many as 80 to 100 wreaths, plus centerpieces, sways and kissing balls. These holiday decorations were purchased by banks, the library, the Glass Museum., local merchants and individuals. Before professional decorators took over the market, the women made from \$3,000.00 to \$4,000.00 each year! The effort included the young people and men in collecting the greens and was very labor intensive for several weeks before the holidays. By the early 1970s a gift table had been added to the greens sales.

A spring greens sale was held for a number of years. These were plants for gardens and homes. In August of 1971 the first "summer thing" was held with craft tables and Thrift Shop items, as well as baked goods. That year the Fair was held in late August, the traditional beginning of the hurricane season. The day started threateningly but cleared nicely and the Fair was a success. However, in the annual report it was suggested that the fair be held earlier in August I future years. The "Summething" has evolved into our current Summer Faire which includes children's games of chance, a white elephant table, hot dogs and drinks, plant and craft tables, baked goods and Thrift Shop sales.

By 1971 the women's group no longer met on a monthly basis as a formal Guild but, under the title "Women of Saint John's," planned a few interesting meetings during the year. They continued to hold fairs, and were involved in projects such as the United Thank Offering, Shrove Tuesday Breakfast, Church World Service, Church Women United, World Day of Prayer, Church Periodical Club, and various Diocesan programs.

In the 1980s the Women of Saint John's adopted the title "Episcopal Church Women." The Christmas and Summer Fairs fell under a separate committee, and the ECW returned to planning monthly meetings with lunch and guest speakers. The purpose of the ECW of Saint John's, embraced in 1993, "is to unite the women of this Parish in a program of worship, stewardship, and fellowship, which will deepen and strengthen our spiritual lives and lead us into service for the Church in the Parish, the Community, the Diocese, the Nation, and the World." All women of Saint John's are automatically members of the ECW and are invited to participate in its functions.

# 10. Thrift Shop

Gather up the fragments that remain, that nothing be lost. John 6:1

It was through the Women's Guild that the Thrift Shop evolved. Mae Tievialis brought the idea up as she had been running a thrift shop for the Eastern Star in Sagamore. Since she was ready to give it up she suggested that Saint John's try its hand at running a shop. Nell Harper, Bertha MacAusland, Carol Jillson, Barbara Slade, Louise Velsor, Peg Burke, Carol MacLean, Clara Taber, and Elizabeth Currier were among the dynamic women who started what has become both an outreach to the community and a major source of income for Saint John's.

At first the Thrift Shop was open in the Parish Hall only in the summer months because the Sunday school met there during the school year. In 1968 the old garage was remodeled so that it could be used year-round as the shop, but it proved inadequate during the winter. Finally in the spring of 1971 the basement under the Parish Hall was remodeled and painted. The Thrift shop, in its present location, was officially opened to function year-round, on June 1, 1971.

When the Shop operated only in the summer time it was open five days a week. Now it is open on Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Saturdays from 10:00 to 2:00. It is currently staffed by members of St. John's and the community who believe. The Shop provides a worthwhile service to the Upper Cape.

Nell Harper, a volunteer for 35 years, remembers finding that some donations had real value. One was a punch bowl identified as being made of Sandwich glass. Another was an old trunk left out for trash pick-up. An antique dealer wanted to buy it to refinish and sell in his shop. She said antiqued dealers often drop in to see what is offered.

While the shop has received donations of small appliances, jewelry, books and household goods, it is clothing that is the largest part of the shop's business. The shop donates clothing (and household goods) to local families in need as well as Rosie Place in Boston, and provides costumes for children's pageants and the Glasstown Players. What does not sell or cannot be used locally, is given to Morgan Memorial for their outreach in Honduras.

Since the stock is always changing it takes a number of volunteers to keep it sorted. Ruth Horne, who had worked in the shop for over five years, enjoyed the solitary work of sorting clothes and took charge of off-season clothing that was stored in the attic. She could be seen, according to Al Ridgely, running up and down the ladder t the attic "in a flash" with an arm load of clothes. Her task, as she saw it, was "protecting clothing from rats, mice, and moths, "a chore she had well in hand. In the very beginning five to thirty women a year helped t keep the Thrift shop going. Now several retired men have joined in contributing their time and energy to keeping the Thrift Shop operations running smoothly.

Along with the Day Care Center, the Thrift Shop is part of Saint John's ongoing connection and outreach to the community. The Thrift Shop's philosophy as of January 18, 1993 has been "To accept graciously what is donated and to sort donations to the best of our ability, for the objective of making money for Saint John's"

# 11. Sunday School

Let them give thanks to the Lord for his mercy, and the wonders he does for his children

Psalm 107

The functioning of Saint John's Sunday school over the years has been erratic and dependent upon the number of children who attend church and upon the adults willing to give their time to teach the Word of the Lord. For some the task ran in the family as with Ida May French and her daughter-in-law,

Hazel. Ida was also a Sandwich English Teacher for who Thornton Burgess said she was the reason he was able to write. Sometimes there were very few children. Louise Velsor recalls Gram Staats (mother of Peg Pola) revitalizing the Sunday school with mostly Velsor, Pola, and Thomas children. Soon other children were attracted and the school was going again.

The Reverend MacDonald credited Harriet Clark's committee, in the late 1940s, with bringing back families with children who had gone to the Federated Church because it had a Sunday school while Saint John's had none. Once Harriet had our school opened it "brought children and new families and some former members. The congregation (was) swelling, and (in) the New Year, one of the vestrymen told (Mac Donald) that he had never seen so many in a winter congregation."

Mae Foster, who began to teach about this time and continued for close to 25 years, remembers that she also stayed in the Parish Hall with the preschoolers, during the service. She would conduct a little service for them at a small altar built by her father. The wood for this altar came from the salvaged parts of an altar destroyed in a fire at Saint Paul's in Brockton, where Mae's parents were active members. Hazel French and Harriet Clark sewed various altar cloths in the liturgical colors so the children could experience the changing of the church seasons. They also sang simple hymns, such as "Jesus Loves Me" and had prayers. They knew they were having a service like the others in the "big" church which they would someday attend.

Helen Jillson (wife of Bruce) was a volunteer for many years before she became our first paid Sunday School Director in 1989. She says that every year now Saint Jon's brings in more and more children. Every year she worries about organizing the school, and every year she reminds herself that God will provide, and He does. A thought will strike her to call someone and that person will alternate Sundays while others will seem to have been waiting to be called. Partnering seems to work for those with a busy schedule or who prefer not to handle a class alone. Some will alternate Sundays while others will work together. The curriculum is "living the Good News" which goes along with the Lectionary of the Sunday service. But some teachers improvise their own teaching such as reading Bible stories and then encouraging children to draw the pictures suggested to hem by these stories.

While 125 students were enrolled in 1993, about 88 attend on an average Sunday. In 1994 the enrollment increased to 150. The children like to be involved in special occasions and are community-minded. The Christmas Pageant and annual Blessing of the Animals are favorite events. Father John's retirement service held a special meaning for older students who had grown up at Saint John's. The children have also learned about effective outreach through such services as Harvest Home Sunday when they present groceries to the Food Pantry which they have purchased with their own money. At Christmas they also wrap and give presents to be distributed in the community.

The operation of a youth fellowship has also been sporadic. Marjorie Lane remembers Mr. Brown taking the youth group to Emmanuel Church for a pre-Lenten service in Boston with other youth groups. It was the only time some of these young people left the Cape.

Louise Velsor recalls in the late 1950s, that Father John encouraged the youths of the whole town to drop in at 161 Main Street as a center for afterschool relaxation. Older children respected younger ones, everyone knew everyone, and there were dancing and games. Father John was also instrumental in organizing dances at Town Neck Beach.

Mae and Bill Foster, along with Clyde and Barbara Gill of the Congregational Church brought the youths of all the churches together in a group of twelve to eighteen year olds in the late 1950 and early 1960s. They met twice a month at the Congregational Church which is now the Doll Museum. Their

group met with other youth fellowships on the Cape for "spring clean-up." The minister of each group would explain about his church. They would also have potluck suppers and go to Boston once a year to see a play. Bruce Jillson (son of Jack and Carol) was acolyte at Father John's first service. He also recalls suppers at Carol MacLean's home. She started the Community Thanksgiving Diners at Saint John's. These are now continued by her daughter, Janet Richards, in the Sandwich Human Services Building. The youth went ice skating on Peter's Pond. Bruce says that all these events made them all feel like one big family.

Father John, Clyde, Barbara and Ruth Weaver led the Young People's Fellowship in the 1960s. Father John started a "supper club" with the families on base where the youths got an opportunity to learn about being in the military during the controversial Viet Nam War. He would also take them to Boston to meet with other fellowship groups. In the 1970s Dorothy Gibbs, Betty Sweeney and the Reverend Warren Freeman led a structured youth group in which the young people experienced working on outreach projects. In the 1980s Doug and Cathy Harper led a more casual group that designed its own programs.

# 12. The Day Care Center

Children are a heritage of the Lord and the fruit of the womb is a gift. Psalm 127

In the late 1970s and early 1980s Father John and some of the parishioners began to see a need for child care in Sandwich which had none available that went beyond babysitting. In the fall of 1982, while he was teaching at Head Start, David Thomas began after-school day care in the Parish Hall two afternoons a week. Then in January the property at 163 Main Street became available. It was an ideal acquisition for Saint John's because its L-shaped parcel behind 161 would give Saint John's land abutted Corpus Christi as well as eventual space for an updated septic system. The building also provided rooms for the growing Sunday school. A Day Care Center was proposed with the expectation that it would pay the mortgage, as well as be a service to the community. The property was purchased with a \$50,000.00 legacy as down payment toward the price of \$103,000.00. This came only after much debate over whether it was a wise purchase for Saint John's to make. The Sandwich Day Care Center opened in late April of 1983. The first months were slow because parents had already lined up babysitting for the school year. Most parents who inquired about the day care program were reluctant to leave their child unless they knew there would be another child with whom theirs could play. David could promise them there would always be a child at the center because his own son, James was a preschooler. When David left in December of 1984, the school was functioning with a full house.

In 1986 Louise Pola was made Director of the Center. She recalls, in the beginning of her tenure, that parents were involved as volunteers, but now that the school is doing so well, and has national accreditation, it does not need the parents' help so much, except with fund-raising activities. The money from these efforts goes to buy equipment and a percentage is put aside to provide scholarships. The center has good equipment that teaches and trains with creative play. It also has musical instruments and even a small computer. The children range in age from two years & nine months old to six years old. A consistent and stable staff has evolved who not only care for and teach the young children, but also counsel parents and help with some of the maintenance projects on the interior of the building. Louise feels that the school is an easy environment to run because everyone gets along and everyone pitches in to help.

### 13. Tributes to Father John Thomas

Over the years every decision to make a change brought some controversy, whether it was t move the altar forward, to start a day care center, to enlarge the church "campus", or to vest lay readers and train lay chalicists (the first were Lois Alcorn and William Willets). However, as Lucy Morrison put it, "Saint John's is always a loving, caring family. They have disagreement, but it is put aside and everyone works for the good of the whole church."

When Father John announced his decision to retire, that too was an unpopular decision, But one and all, from the Diocese, the Parish and the community, with tears in their eyes, joined to thank both John and Frances Thomas and to wish them well. On Sunday, June 7, 1993, there were special services and then a gathering at the Daniel Webster Inn where friends, colleagues and parishioners paid tribute to Father John's 14 years as the first permanent Rector of Saint John's. The Vestry elected John "Rector Emeritus", and the Board of Selectmen declared it the "Reverend John H. Thomas Day". Laura Carlyle, parish secretary during John's final three years as Rector, and chair of the retirement committee, announced the creation of the John and Frances Thomas Scholarship Fund to be awarded annually to an outstanding musician from the graduating class of Sandwich High School.

The Right Reverend David Johnson, Bishop of Massachusetts, spoke of John's "34 years of very effective, significant, compassionate and loving ministry." He also praised Frances Thomas for her support of her husband and her community.

The Reverend William Geertz of the First Church of Christ, thanked John "for being there at the vital turning points of our lives, and for being a point of spiritual continuity in our rapidly changing community." The Reverend Richard Crowell, retired Rector of Saint Barnabas in Falmouth, remarked that "Saint John's and John clearly heard a call . . . to be a Parish that is at work in the community, in the Diocese, and in the world . . . But there is a much quieter ministry that goes on here . . . The Parish reached out beyond just holding services, reached out to build real community."

### Father John's parishioners have said of him:

"Of anyone I can remember in the town of Sandwich, he has had more effect on more people in the community than anyone I know. He has done a lot for a lot of people in a very nice way. He's always been there when people needed him." Mae Foster

"I'll love him till the day I die. I don't see him often now but I know I could call him at 3 am and he'd come." Adrienne Huff

"Saint John's is a friendly and welcoming church because of Father John. He stuck his neck out to do innovative things, otherwise the church might be fuddy-duddy." Eva Broderson

"Your needing help is all he has to know, people don't have to be members of Saint John's for him to be interested in them." Al Ridgley

"He was always very determined when he saw a need he thought required out attention, but he was pliable too. He would listen to the other side." Peggy Wilson

# And from a sermon preached by Father Ted Yardley in the summer of 1993:

"We have our own kind of steadfastness. Thirty four years of a kind and attentive ministry of Father John – his being there for the Gospel, as the scene changed, the institutional church has changed, the issues have changed. Our past gives us strength.

We have our own kind of power. Whatever ministry, whatever the changes, we have the Gospel and we have Jesus in the Blessed Sacrament, Power of our lives – what we sing about when we sing "Amazing Grace."

And our own kind of joy. I am here mostly because when I retired . . . (parishioners) welcomed us at the door, and made us feel wanted. The services were upbeat and helpful, and the teaching wise, and so we found joy in becoming parishioners. It has been a joyful place to worship, a joyful group to worship with, giving joy to take the rest of the week." -- Father Ted

As Cindy Roy wrote in her column in the <u>Broadsider</u>. "The work (John and Frances) have done in the name of Saint John's, solely driven by the goodness overflowing from their hearts, will continue to be the very soul of that church. That is, and will continue to be, their everlasting gift, and the community is indeed richer for (their) presence and their unselfish offering."

Give thanks to the Lord for He is good, and his mercy endures forever. Psalm 107

### 14. The Interim

During the year and a half after Father John's retirement, competent and responsible lay leadership continued to emerge. Both Frs. Ted and Rod, as well as other clergy, took on ministerial duties. Beginning in January, 1994, the Reverend William H. Eddy came to St. John's to serve as Interim Rector. Father Bill worked as a "bridge" between the ministries of Fr. John and the rector yet to come. He taught us new ways of joining together in fellowship and in giving to make St. John's "a wing on our home just as it is a frontier outpost of the kingdom of God." Father Bill also wrote in his final newsletter article, "We drew heavily on the ministries of Ted, Rod and John. We encouraged the exercise of their priesthood . . . It has been an honor to work with (John); he never got in my way.

"We built a new organization and maintained much of the old . . . The new rector will value, I hope, these efforts to keep our parish loose, involved, decentralized, and diversified." Father Bill celebrates with joy the successful calling of our new rector.

Parishioners found Father Bill did not an excellent job as interim. He added a lot to what could have been a dull time between ministries. His sermons never failed to enlighten, amuse and instruct. The active members of the congregation found it pleasant to share the responsibilities of parish functions with Father Bill. He was a dynamic force in the life of St. John's. He got the most out of the lay people, he kept us together, and he got us organized as well as used to changes in preparation for our new rector.

### 15. Beginning

And thanks to our able Search Committee, chaired by Jack Huber, and with the support of the Vestry, we received our new rector in October, 1995. He is the Reverend John Edward McGinn. He comes with his wife, Marion, from St. Paul's Church in Southington, CT. They have two grown children. Rev. McGinn is 48 years old and has been a cleric for 15 years. Prior to entering the Episcopal Divinity school in Cambridge, Massachusetts he served in the Army and worked for a multinational corporation. We look forward to his ministry with us.

Almighty Father, we thank you for raising up among us faithful servants for the ministry of your Word and Sacraments. We pray that John McGinn may be to us an effective example in word and

action, in love and patience, and in holiness of life. Grant that we, with him, may serve you, and always rejoice in your glory; through Jesus Christ your Son our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and forever. BCP – p. 564 Amen

### ST. JOHN'S CHURCH HISTORY (1995-2011)

On October 21, 1995, Father John McGinn celebrated his first worship service as the new rector at St. John's Church in the throes of an early winter storm bearing heavy rain and snow. He chided the Search Committee for having enticed him with an illusion of Cape Cod mild winters! Parishioners helped Father McGinn ascend the steep driveway of his East Sandwich home in order to get to church on time! Adding to this memorable beginning was a leak in the church roof causing water to spill down on the chancel. The maintenance chairman, Arthur Clark, wrote in his annual report that Father McGinn "was nearly baptized by heavenly water."

There were thirty-seven baptisms, eight weddings and sixteen deaths that year. Gail Fryer was appointed Church Historian and brought St. John's history up-to-date. Geraldine Boles, talented organist and music director resigned and Ley Coe became interim organist, providing music at the early Sunday morning worship service for the first time. A music committee was formed and David Nygard was retained in 1996.

In 1996, St. John's neighbor, Corpus Christi, moved into its new East Sandwich church and the Jarves Street church with land adjacent to St. John's was offered for sale. A large committee researched the possible acquisition of this property versus the feasibility of St. John's building a new church on land in East Sandwich generously offered by Jack Jillson. (An Ad Hoc Committee had been formed some ten years prior to consider the anticipated Corpus Christi sale.) The ultimate decision was to expand the existing church and architects' drawings were solicited shortly thereafter. The town's elected officials were pleased that St. John's Church would remain in the old village.

St. John's mission statement, "We are a family called by Christ primarily to grow spiritually, to share life with others, and to make known His love through word and deed," was adopted. Several memorial gifts were received to enhance our worship: A new sanctuary light (Janet Dunbar); the Bishop's chair (Randall Kreutel); Altar Guild and Perpetual Care bequests (Adrienne Huff); clergy chasubles (Lillian Kelly); and a 900 pound bell cast in The Netherlands for the heretofore empty belfry (Anna Massie). Father McGinn remarked at the 1997 Annual Meeting that not only did the bell add a lot to our worship but "it also adds to our presence in the community ... and our future." The bell tolled for the first time in honor of Augusta Jillson (mother of Jack Jillson) who died in 1997 at the age of 104.

Dr. Shirley Cross was acclaimed for her beautiful and artistic flower arrangements, including the Easter altar forsythia vines, the wheat sprays and autumn leaf wreath for the reredos, the crown of thorns displayed on Good Friday, and most of the foregoing were created from her own garden flowers. The

Episcopal Church Women's group was active under the leadership of Bettie Soule, Jeanne Hebert, Linda Lafferty and Phyllis Curran, among others, and offered both an annual Shrove Tuesday Pancake Brunch and an ecumenical St. Patrick's Day Tea. Betty Sweeney served as United Thank Offering custodian for many years and over \$1,000 was annually donated to the Diocesan UTO Treasury for outreach.

In 1997, St. John's Church sponsored Boy Scout Troop 46, initially led by Steve Frye and Paul Zauner. It was noted by an active "townie" that whatever went on in Sandwich, a member of St. John's was involved. Fifteen percent of our church budget went to outreach this year, including funds for needy children and youth, the Food Pantry, the Salvation Army's Miracle Kitchen, Habitat for Humanity, Diocesan Episcopal Friends, Church World Service, The United Thank Offering, the Shalom and Share programs, and flood victims. St. John's people collected several hundred pounds of clothing and school supplies which were delivered by Margi and Rod Pierce to Florida and flown to Haiti by Agape Flights.

The beautiful needlepoint kneelers, lovingly designed by Susan Deaton and Gail Fryer with a Biblical flowers theme, were created by 12 parishioners: Jeannie Johnson, Susan Deaton, Rita Neri, Jeanette Rodenbaugh, Suzette Jakielo, Thelma Fernald, Elaine Young, Pam Ashcroft, Mary Howe, Virginia Smith, Ann "Binkie" Page and Ann Lovendale. Thelma Fernald is also credited with the wedding cushion.

Larry Smith became the new Director of St. John's Preschool following Louise Pola's retirement after eleven years of leadership. (Those present when the "very professional and over-qualified" Louise was hired will attest to her "saving" the Day Care Center.) Betsy Mason, long time popular teacher, was named Assistant Director. The school changed its name to Sandwich Village Preschool and Childcare and served sixty children at this time.

Helen Jillson, Christian Education Director, returned to teaching full time at public school, and Louise Stupack and Susan Thomas served as interim co-directors. The first children's chapel service was held in the Parish Hall in October and an altar was subsequently produced by master craftsman and faithful friend of St. John's, Ted Dingley. One hundred nineteen children were registered in our church school, representing sixty-two families. Retired priest and long-time parishioner, the Rev. Rodric Pierce, built five small benches to provide extra seating in the chapel area for the Sunday school children who routinely joined the congregation for communion. St. John's was filled beyond capacity most Sundays when the children joined the adult congregation, and on high festival days the Parish Hall was set up with chairs and a video screen to accommodate the overflow. Eighteen children received First Communion on Christmas Eve that year.

Protective covers were placed over the irreplaceable stained glass windows on the Main Street side of the church; a new Sacristy door and new carpeting were installed. A Christian Education Committee and a children's choir were formed. An electronic organ was purchased to enhance the music program. This year the Thrift Shop, now managed by Linda Lafferty and Pam Ashcroft, and located in the undercroft below the parish hall, boasted sales totaling \$21,500.

The summer fair was losing its leaders, helpers and clientele but the Christmas Fair remained a high point. Mary Howe served as Fair Chairman for some 15 or more year and also coordinated the annual Talent Auction (originally conceived by Christie

Lowrance) which often featured the spirited Rev. Allen Swain as auctioneer. Mary created tablesful of lovely craft items at Christmas, and Eleanor Little (with her husband Glenn's handiwork) offered original Christmas tree decorations for many years.

In 1998, Susan Bahrawy was selected as Christian Education Director. Also this year, a financial manager was retained to oversee church investments. St. John's annual income was approximately \$200,000 and its endowment funds amounted to \$194,000. There were now 178 pledging units. The volunteer maintenance committee remained active with retired parishioner, Norman Leech, serving as part-time sexton. His wife, Norma, served as Church keeper for several years, and together with the maintenance men, kept the church and grounds in top condition.

Louise Velsor, long-time church treasurer, donated the children's chapel altar (a Ted Dingley creation) and a beautiful large crèche with nativity figures and a myriad of birds and beasts in memory of her husband Stuart (a/k/a "Spike"). The Sacristy record book revealed further growth with 16 weddings, 30 baptisms, 19 funerals and 24 new confirmands. Christie Lowrance, journalist and long-time active parishioner, published <u>Faith Works</u>, a collection of parishioners' favorite Bible verses.

In 1999, St. John's Church celebrated the centennial of its building with a gala gathering on the grounds of Heritage Plantation in Sandwich. A centennial quilt was designed by an Episcopal monk and stitched by Joye Creedon, Janine Harrington, Charlotte Hart, Suzette Jakielo, Ann Lovendale, Norma Leech, Binkie Page, Susan McKenna, Rita Neri and Louise Stupack under the tutelage of Ann Page and her daughter, Ann Lovendale. A very timely and generous legacy of \$500,000 was gratefully received this year from faithful steward Helen Wells. The Vestry established The Helen Wells Fund which served as the impetus for St. John's people to begin planning a needed expansion of its physical facilities.

The year 2000 was especially historic for St. John's present and future congregations with the launching of the capital building campaign. Evans-Davis Company of Ohio was retained as consultant and Albert Skirius of Edgar H. Wood Associates and resident of Sandwich submitted the architectural drawings selected by the Vestry. With sufficient pledges, the church, office building and day care facility could be connected; the church seating capacity would be increased by more than 100 seats; the sanctuary and choir space increased; a new parish hall would be twice its current size; a larger sacristy would be built; and the undercroft expanded to the building's full dimensions.

The church office was brought into the new century with computers and a state-of-the-art printer. The junior choir increased to 24 members! Intern Simon Barnes introduced the Alpha program to St. John's. Five girls were installed into a Junior Altar Guild. Susan Jaeger became Directress of the Altar Guild, succeeding Jeanne Hebert, faithful and beloved Directress for 25 years. The Altar Guild ladies incurred new responsibilities when construction work began because weekend services were held at First Church

of Christ on Saturday evening and at The Henry Wing School on Sunday morning (from October 1, 2002 through Easter 2003).

Thomas Moon and Jocelyn Schermerhorn were called upon to chair the Capital Fund Drive and pledges just over \$600,000 were realized. Because the total estimated funds required to cover the desired expansion were 1.4 million dollars, the construction curtailed to "Phase One." A \$400,000 construction loan was secured from the Community Bank of Sandwich. Robert Jones was named Chairman of the Building Committee and clerks of the works were Steve Tom, the Rev. John McGinn and Rector Emeritus John Thomas. An enthusiastic group of active parishioners attended a Kickoff Dinner in February 2001 with Suffragen Bishop, The Rt. Rev. Roy ("Bud") Cederholm as guest speaker.

It bears noting that a Diocesan directive held that a retiring priest should worship elsewhere in order to give the new priest free reign in establishing leadership. However, Rector Emeritus John Thomas and wife Frances had a family home down the street from the church and were greatly involved in the community. Father John Thomas and Father John McGinn became the positive exception to the "no compete rule." The former rector even joined the choir and assisted at the altar when called upon. The Thomas Brass (The Thomases' sons and grandson) continued to augment the organ music on special occasions.

Susan Nee and Myriah Bruce assumed leadership of children and youth ministry succeeding Susan Bahrawy. A Brownie Troop as well as the Boy Scout Troop was now sponsored by St. John's. Caring Ministries (also known as At Home Communications) was initiated by Linda Lafferty and faithfully chaired by Gail Alcorn to communicate weekly with parish shut-ins. The ECW outfitted three children under the Salvation Army's Dress-A-Live Doll program for several years, and church youth group members also participated in this service at Christmas.

On September 11, 2001 Father McGinn offered prayers and a Eucharistic service to a shocked community pursuant to the terrorists' attack on the New York City Twin Trade Towers. Sandwich resident Capt.Gerald F. DeConto, who had family ties to the John Thomas family, died in the attack on the Pentagon.

Isabel Pifer, a remarkable long-time parishioner, died in 2001. Isabel had served as a missionary in foreign countries and related wondrous tales of her adventures. Perhaps her greatest claim to fame was that at the age of 8 she had flown in the Wright Brothers' original air machine when the brothers came to Columbus, Ohio to demonstrate successful flight.

In April 2002 a healing service became the standard offering once a month at Saturday evening worship. Initially, the healing service was planned by the laity (Katherine Chaffee, Christie Lowrance, Meryden Kirby and Jean deJong) who enlisted inspirational lay speakers each month. Christie also provided guitar music, much of which were her original compositions, and she recruited vocalists not only from St.

John's but also from First Church and Corpus Christi, notably Debbie Barrette and Kathy Ellis. Father McGinn later offered the laying on of hands at the Sunday family service and, as worshippers became comfortable with it, the number of those who came forward for prayers increased greatly. It was widely recognized by participants of all ages that Father McGinn truly had a gift in this healing rite as he did in his end-of-life ministry.

The Parish Administrator's position held by Ned Harrington became full time this year. The services of retired priests, the Rev. Ted Yardley and the Rev. Rod Pierce were lost but the Reverends Allen Swain, David Allen, Bruce Benshoff and John Thomas were available to assist the Rector. Bishop Cederholm confirmed a group of 39 people, the largest number from any church in this diocese. Later, Bishop Bud wrote in the Episcopal Times:

"My recent visits have highlighted for me the unity of purpose we share in proclaiming by word and deed the good news of God in Christ. At St. John's Church in Sandwich 400 people packed a school gymnasium because the church was undergoing renovations as a result of tremendous growth. I confirmed 39 persons, mostly teens, that day. I told the congregation that the diocese rejoices with it and gives thanks for its faithful witness in the community and its dedication to the formations of young people."

Gifted contractor, carpenter, cabinetmaker Edward ("Ted") Dingley continued to provide St. John's church with volunteer service, miraculously removing and restoring the irreplaceable stained glass windows prior to the Main Street wall of the church being built outward. Later, he created new pews and lengthened the altar rail. Linda and Robert Jones generously donated new fire-resistant pew cushions.

The Schermerhorns donated three additional stained glass windows for the expanded church frontage: St. Elizabeth, the Baptism of Jesus; and Mary the Mother of Jesus. Elizabeth (Bettie) Soule donated the Noah's Ark window above the nave entrance. Two windows in the narthex were donated by parishioners Lee and Phil Midgley and Dorothy and Al Bosanquet (John the Baptist, St. John's patron saint, and John the Apostle). Tom and Gail Moon and Jean deJong contributed funds to extend the altar rail. Dorothy and Randall Kreutel donated the Bishop's chair while Barbara Lewis donated two Priests' chairs for the chancel. A generous monetary contribution was received from Cathy and Doug Harper who had moved to Florida in 1997 but had served as very popular youth leaders. Their life journey later brought them back to St. John's Church where Cathy taught Sunday school and activated the Hospitality Committee. Doug became a warden and introduced monthly breakfast meetings with the Rector.)

In 2003, the church assets rose to \$772,000 much of which was pledged as collateral on the expansion loan. (The final cost approximated \$900,000.) The diocesan assessment obligation was necessarily

deferred. In June the florist shop adjacent to St. John's parking lot, was offered for sale and the decision to purchase it for the Thrift Shop increased the bank loan to \$400,000. St. John's Realty Trust was created and the Thrift Shop opened in September, after renovations and improvement, with Katherine Chaffee as the first paid manager. (Katherine was also Director of Adult Education.) Over 30 volunteers served as sales clerks and income more than doubled that of the basement shop. It soon became apparent that the volunteer sales ladies were St. John's community evangelists!

St. John's was fortunate to have the inimitable Atty. Arthur Donahue available as an active member (including warden) to give advice throughout the many real estate legal matters. Tom Anderson, CPA served as church treasurer throughout the church expansion and for a number of years thereafter; and deserved mega-thanks for the time and expertise he contributed sans remuneration to keep financial matters in order.

The expanded church was rededicated on October 26, 2003 by Bishop Cederholm. It was now enhanced by the 6 new stained glass windows, an extensive fire suppression system, gas heat, a full undercroft and a seating capacity of 300.

The Episcopal Church Women's group became inactive this year "due to lack of interest and poor attendance," according to the clerk's report. A "Friendly Visitors" group was formed by Jos Schermerhorn to keep in touch with shut-ins. Over 50 children were now enrolled in the Preschool and plans were announced to teach a second language. St. John's remained one of the largest Sunday schools in the diocese. Father McGinn wrote in his annual report:

"Even though we worshipped at First Church and the Wing School for over 6 months, our attendance at worship exceeded 205 people per weekend. I think that is remarkable considering that our parish was like a nomadic tribe."

The year

2004 marked the 150<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the Sandwich Village Episcopal Church and was celebrated with a service of Thanksgiving on December 4. Phase I of St. John's expansion came to a close. The parishioners rejoiced in their comfortable church and thanked God for its faithful stewards. Christie Lowrance was asked to compose a special anthem for the anniversary celebration and her original words are hereby recorded:

# LET IT BE KNOWN

•

Let it be known, let it be known

Let it be known that the Lord is worshipped here.

Let it be known, let it be known

Let it be known that His Word is studied here.

One hundred fifty years

Passed now and are gone

So let the walls of St. John's church

Echo with our prayer and song.

Let it be known, let it be known

Let it be known here his holy cross hangs high.

Let it be known

These doors open wide

For this is the House of God

And all may come inside.

Let it be known, let it be known

Let it be known that His people gather here.

Let it be known

Let it ever be the same

That we who keep this church

Do love and praise his Name.

Let it be known, let it be known

Let it be known that the Lord is worshipped here.

Church friends honored Anne and Luke Miller and Louise and Ed Stupack with the gift of an "endowed bench" on the occasion of their fiftieth anniversaries. The bench was placed just to the right of the front steps of the church and is often in use. Also, in 2004 the life of Lois Alcorn was memorialized. She had been one of the first two Lay Eucharistic Ministers at St. John's altar and had also faithfully served as Altar Guild Directress.

The ordination of The Rev. Gene Robinson, an avowed homosexual priest, to Bishop of New Hampshire caused great anxiety amongst many Episcopalians, and a few St. John's members, together with other

Cape Cod Episcopalians, broke away and formed an Anglican group in Forestdale. Meanwhile, back at St. John's Village Church, Deacon Beatrice Hurwitch of Scituate was assigned by the Bishop to assist wherever needed and she was warmly received.

The parish mourned the deaths of faithful servants Betty Sweeney (for whom the church library was later named) and Dorothy Kreutel (especially famous for her apple pies and blueberry muffins). Management of "2 Jarves Street," the name given to the new Thrift Shop, passed to Myriah Bruce. The shop now served local artists, several consignors, and continued to be a welcoming center as well as an outreach ministry for volunteers. Clothing was regularly donated to a needy parish in New Bedford and to Noah Shelter, the Salvation Army and Safe Harbor, a shelter for the homeless. Annual sales reached \$66,000 in 2004.

St. John's adult education committee scheduled two public concerts in the church: Boston's Silver Leaf Gospel Singers and Gregory Norbet, former Benedictine monk, musician and composer. Also noteworthy was St. John's Christmas Eve pageant which involved 50 children! Over 500 worshippers attended Christmas Eve services. Myriah Bruce, Youth Director, and George Challies, Marine veteran, organized Toys for Tots at Christmas which benefited 285 families in 2005.

2005 was Father McGinn's 25<sup>th</sup> year of ordination and his 10<sup>th</sup> year at St. John's Church. A dinner was held in the parish hall at which parishioners and guests enjoyed "roasting" and honoring the Rector. John and Marion McGinn had arrived separately in Sandwich as they had a home to sell in Connecticut and Marion was teaching school. St. John's people shared their joy when daughter Colleen married Rob White and son Edward (Ted) married Tara. In God's time, Colleen and Rob brought forth three beautiful grandchildren and Ted and Tara added two more.

Marion McGinn was a bright star at St. John's Church, teaching in the church school (as well as public school). She not only participated in multi church programs but also initiated the popular Shrove Tuesday ladies' pancake race and Good Friday's Stations of the Cross. She was a model "First Lady of St. John's," much loved and admired, as was the entire family which soon encompassed Father McGinn's sister, Beverly.

The first annual St. John's Golf Tournament evolved as a highly successful fundraiser and social event, thanks to Co-Chairmen Ann Geary-Roche and Philip Johnson, assisted by Charles Coombs, Jann and Jerry Czarnetzki, and Jos Schermerhorn. A popular garden tour and, later, a house tour were beautifully planned and produced.

St. John's hosted Vacation Bible School in the summer with the theme "Serengeti Trek," and over 50 community children enjoyed the experience with elaborate jungle décor, including a life-size giraffe at the front door. A Halloween Eve service for the children, followed by a "monster dinner," became an annual

attraction along with the Mardi gras celebration. This year the Confirmation class traveled to Orlando, FL for an impressive ecumenical gathering, "Faith in 3D."

St. John's people continued to supply food and decorations every month for St. Theresa's "Gathering Meal," and helped the Quakers in their "Overnights of Hospitality" program for homeless women. Crafts were sold annually for the Bangladesh missionary work of Sandwich's Faith Willard; and school supplies were delivered to Agape Flights in Florida to be shipped to Haiti and the Dominican Republic. The Food Pantry benefited from collections made by the Sunday school children and parishioners. In 2006, St. John's outreach contributions easily surpassed 10% of its annual budget.

In 2006 Misao Koyama was retained as St. John's organist following the death of David Nygard. The parish also mourned the passing of Susan Jaeger who had served as Altar Guild Directress, Adult Christian Education Chairman and founder of "Spiritual Friends" with her husband, the Rev. Rod Pierce. She was instrumental in arranging for the new gold dossal curtain, created and donated by Gail Vassal, parishioner and talented seamstress.

St. John's Village Preschool, the oldest preschool in Sandwich, marked its 25<sup>th</sup> year. Prior to St. John's expansion providing full undercroft space for meetings and classes, the Kindergarten and First Grade Sunday School classes were held at the Preschool.

In 2007, a restroom designed to accommodate the handicapped was constructed in a closet off the parish hall. It became apparent that the church expansion diminished ventilation so air conditioning was installed in the sanctuary, a gift from Betty Sweeney's estate. Over 100 children were enrolled in Sunday school classes. 2 Jarves Street now boasted gross sales over \$100,000. The Vacation Bible School hosted by First Church with assistance from St. John's adults and teens involved 7 local churches and 101 children!

James Thomas, talented musician and grandson of Rector Emeritus John Thomas, with his jazz musicians staged the first of the group's Sunday afternoon concerts at St. John's to benefit the public school music program. St. John's walls and acoustics were truly tested!

A Columbarium Committee (Louise Stupack, the Rev. John McGinn, the Rev. John Thomas and Jack Huber) was formed to research the possible addition of a columbarium within the church. It became a reality on All Saints' weekend in 2008, filling the space of the former chapel area. The columbarium offers 84 niches for members' cremains.

In 2008, St. John's was awarded a federal grant of \$11,700 from the Cape Cod Youth Empowerment Initiative, per the University of Massachusetts, to be used to research effective ways to provide safe

meeting places for Sandwich, Bourne and Mashpee youth. Its first meeting attracted over 100 young people, thanks to St. John's youth and Director of Youth, Mariah Bruce.

Deacon Maggie Arnold, a candidate for ordination to the priesthood, was assigned to St. John's by the diocese to intern with us from September to June. She was well received by the Rector and congregation, adding a new dimension to worship and Bible study. Richard Young and Ed Stupack died in 2008. In Dick's memory, his family donated the beautiful brass covered Gospel Book; and in Ed's memory, his family donated the oak table, created by Ted Dingley, for placement on the columbarium platform.

Ed Stupack (who had followed Al Hebert as head usher) inevitably sported his purple cashmere jacket when ushering during Advent, Lent and Easter. The jacket passed with Ed's passing to the team of ushers, and shortly thereafter, Tom Moon donated a second purple jacket. In fact, the color purple was soon popularized throughout the congregation in shirts, jackets, neckties and scarfs just as red is dominant on Pentecost Sunday. College co-ed Kate Johnson, a lifetime member of St. John's who continued to serve at the altar whenever available and needed, composed a poem entitled "If the Jacket Fits." The first and last stanzas read as follows:

"The jacket hung still with a note for all
An usher shall wear it, he must be tall
If the jacket fits, would you wear it please?
It would mean so much to our dear Louise."

"Advent passed on and Christmas arrived

The life of Ed's jacket was still alive

Tucked away in the Sacristy closet with care

I can't wait for the fun it will bring us next year."

Another loyal young person who deserves mention is Jared Cohen who stayed faithful to his church during college and beyond. When hired at the local supermarket he told his employer that he would not be available for work on Sunday mornings because of church. Jared served as a Lay Eucharistic Minister but was most often seen as St. John's austere Crucifer.

A group of St. John's women offered to host the monthly "Gathering Meal" in the parish hall after St. Theresa's Church in Sagamore closed. Corpus Christi women continued to assist as did the First Church ladies. Also in 2008 Paula Deane assumed management of 2 Jarves Street and continued increasing its annual sales and outreach.

Because of a poor economy and St. John's mortgage indebtedness, the trust monies and investments were diminishing, prompting the need for creative revenue generating. Under the leadership of Donna Wudyka, Nancy Travers and Sean Randall, several fundraisers became popular in 2009, among them the Fourth of July pancake breakfast at which over 270 people attended; and a gala event with auctions held first at Heritage Museums. St. John's youth participated in the creation of a float entered into the Fourth of July parade.

Phil Johnson carried on the chairmanship of the highly successful Golf Tournament with dinner and auctions held at New Seabury Country Club, assisted by Ann Geary Roche, Jann and Gerry Czarnetzki and Jean Johnson. Jean's own contributions to St. John's cannot be overlooked. She served several years as Asst. Treasurer, attended Vestry meetings and managed the check book, served several years in the choir and several years on the Stewardship Committee, where she did mailings, telephone calls and personal notes. (When daughter Kate's little Autumn was baptized, three generations of the Johnson family were involved at St. John's Church.)

In 2009 Catherine Harper became a candidate for the diaconate, beginning with the discernment process involving a committee of five St. John's members. Cathy was named a postulant for Holy Orders in 2010 and began a 3-year study that fall with the blessing and encouragement of the parish. Robert Sherwood of Falmouth, also a deacon intern, was assigned to St. John's Church for a short term while Cathy served at St. Gabriel's in Marion.

An automatic external defibrillator was donated to St. John's Church requiring the training of ushers and teachers among others. Parishioners mourned the loss of loyal and beloved members, among them the Rev. Rod Pierce, Aldas Ridgley, Estelle Duncan and Shirley ("Ley") Coe.

In October 2010 the church and diocese were deeply shocked by the sudden death of its very popular Rev. Allen Swain, a long time active member of St. John's Church, assistant priest, choir member, past director of Briarwood Conference Center in Monument Beach. The Volunteer of the Year Award was initiated in his honor and the first recipient was Jocelyn Schermerhorn, an outstanding steward of the parish.

Loyal staff lost this year were Ned Harrington, Parish Administrator, and wife, Catherine, the Church keeper, and Sexton, Norman Leech (now twice retired after being urgently called back into service). Michael McLaughlin (St. John's modern day disciple of Christ) became part-time parish administrator and Robert Bruce assumed the position of part-time sexton. In a further effort to live within annual income and preserve diminishing investments, the Vestry reluctantly terminated Susan Nee's part-time position as Director of Children's Ministries. Myriah Bruce's part-time position as Director of Children and Youth became full time as she assumed the leadership of Christian Formation. Although the stewardship program under Vestryman Brian Kuchar inspired new pledge units and several increases, these were austere times marked by loss of jobs by several young adult family members. St. John's overall makeup was not that of a wealthy parish.

A food pantry called "Upper Cape Helping Hands" operated by a Mashpee group needing space were offered the back room at 161 Main Street. The Sandwich Food Pantry which began at St. John's Church had long since moved to larger space and was now serving some 500 clients, under the management of Norma ("Gigi") Ridgely.

Three St. John's youths, Peter Balkam, Robert Bruce and Dom Lasorsa, were elected to the Diocesan Youth Council. Also, three young people planning to make a mission trip to El Salvador, Sarah Balkam, Riley Bruce and Lillian Randall, worked toward raising money for the August 2011 experience.

In 2011, Marilyn Swain donated a large Celtic cross in memory of her beloved husband, the Rev. Allen Swain. The cross now hangs against the reredos. It was constructed by a relative of Marilyn's and first hung in the Church of St. Matthew & The Redeemer in Boston, the church of Marilyn's father, which closed in 2009. The wooden cross which hangs directly over the altar had been given by the Rev. Rodric Pierce in memory of his wife Margi. The cross composed of Sandwich glass was donated by Nancy and Bruce Duquette in memory of Nancy's mother, Dorothy Kruetel, whose home was in close proximity to the historic Sandwich Glass Company site, and from whence the shards of glass were collected. It should be noted that the small urn placed in the baptismal font is a rare piece of silvered glass briefly manufactured by the Sandwich Glass Company in the 19<sup>th</sup> century.

Because of leaks and cracks in the lead glazing, the irreplaceable stained glass window at the rear of the Nave was restored by Lynn Covery, a renowned artist. Later in the year, a generous monetary gift was received from the late Rev. Rod Pierce's estate. Also this year St. John's acquired a handsome grand piano from St. Paul's Church, Brockton, which had closed.

The second year of a Lenten Bible Study led by Father McGinn at Bobby Byrnes' Pub attracted good attendance. The Sunday school was introduced to a new program called J.U.M.P. (Jesus, Use Me Please), and each Sunday at the family service, one of the classes would take a "Sunday School Minute" to illustrate its study topic that day.

"At Home Communications" marked the tenth anniversary in 2011 of its caring ministry, keeping in contact with 52 formerly active parishioners. St. John's Prayer Chain would note its 10-year anniversary in February 2012. Father McGinn stated in his Annual Rector's Report that St. John's Prayer Chain had received well over 1,000 prayer requests since its inception on February 23, 2002. (Christie Lowrance is credited with the formation of this prayer group, as well as a prior trio with Jeannie Johnson and Tom Moon; even earlier there had been a large prayer and study group formed by the Pierces and Yardleys.)

"Prayer works; miracles happen" became the by-word of the Prayer Chain and indeed a "Miracle Book" was kept by the members. At the group's initial gathering, the record indicates that the spunky and adored

Estelle Duncan was the first recipient of urgent petitions following her harrowing ambulance ride to Cape Cod Hospital. Jean deJong wrote that "many prayers stormed the gates of heaven" on Estelle's behalf and thanks be to God, Estelle recovered within a week, resumed her whirlwind activities which included volunteering at the Food Pantry, serving on the Altar Guild, visiting shut-ins, befriending the children (most of whom she called "Lovey"), boosting the spirits of the downtrodden, seldom missing a social event up to the age of 90.

Eleanor Little, another faithful St. John's steward, died in 2011. Eleanor served on the Vestry and Finance Committee and was one of the latter's most effective chairpersons. She was responsible for establishing the trust funds and for drawing up the Financial Procedural Manual, a guideline for the Vestry, Rector, staff and all church leaders. With her husband's help, Eleanor contributed a vast variety of original Christmas ornaments and crafts for the Christmas Fair each year. Jeanne Hebert, quiet selfless servant, also died in 2011. Jeanne's leadership of the Altar Guild, coordinator of collations, receptions and teas, as well as chairmanship of the church fair's bakery tables always produced outstanding results.